
 

 

 
 
Notice of a public meeting of  

Gambling, Licensing & Regulatory Committee 
 

To: Councillors Douglas (Chair), Boyce (Vice-Chair), 
Aspden, Crisp, D'Agorne, Funnell, Gillies, Gunnell, 
Hayes, Hunter, Mason, Mercer, D Myers, Orrell and 
Richardson 
 

Date: Monday, 13 March 2017 
 

Time: 4.00 pm 
 

Venue: The Snow Room - Ground Floor, West Offices (G035) 
 

 
A G E N D A 

 
1. Declarations of Interest    
 At this point in the meeting, Members are asked to declare: 

 

 any personal interests not included on the Register of 
Interests  

 any prejudicial interests or  

 any disclosable pecuniary interests 
 

which they may have in respect of business on this agenda. 
 

2. Minutes   (Pages 1 - 4) 
 To approve and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 6 

February 2017.  
 

3. Public Participation    
 At this point in the meeting members of the public who have 

registered their wish to speak regarding an item on the agenda or 
an issue within the Committee’s remit can do so. The deadline for 
registering is 5:00 pm on Friday 10 March 2017. 
 
 
 



 

Filming or Recording Meetings 
Residents are welcome to photograph, film or record Councillors 
and Officers at all meetings open to the press and public. This 
includes the use of social media reporting, i.e. tweeting. Anyone 
wishing to film, record or take photos at any public meeting 
should contact the Democracy Officer (contact details are at the 
foot of this agenda) in advance of the meeting. 
 
The Council’s protocol on Webcasting, Filming & Recording of 
Meetings ensures that these practices are carried out in a 
manner both respectful to the conduct of the meeting and all 
those present.  It can be viewed at 
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_f
or_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_201
60809.pdf 
 

4. Application to Register Land as a Town or Village Green   
        (Pages 5 - 28) 
 This report seeks Members’ determination of an application to 

register land known as Holgate Community Garden and Play 
Park (also known as Upper St Paul’s Terrace play area) as a 
town or village green.  
 

5. Urgent Business    
 Any other business which the Chair considers urgent under the  

Local Government Act 1972.  
 

 
Democracy Officer: 
 
Name: Laura Clark  
 
Contact Details: 

 Telephone – (01904) 554538 

 E-mail – Laura.Clark@york.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf
http://www.york.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/11406/protocol_for_webcasting_filming_and_recording_of_council_meetings_20160809.pdf
mailto:Laura.Clark@york.gov.uk


 

For more information about any of the following please contact the 
Democracy Officer responsible for servicing this meeting: 
 

 Registering to speak 

 Business of the meeting 

 Any special arrangements 

 Copies of reports and 

 For receiving reports in other formats 
 

Contact details are set out above. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



City of York Council Committee Minutes 

Meeting Gambling, Licensing & Regulatory Committee 

Date 6 February 2017 

Present Councillors Douglas (Chair), Boyce (Vice-
Chair), Aspden, Crisp, D'agorne, Funnell, 
Gillies, Hayes, Hunter, Mason, Mercer, 
D Myers and Richardson 

Apologies Councillors Gunnell and Orrell 

 

19. Declarations of Interest  
 

Members were asked to declare any personal interests not 
included on the Register of Interests, any prejudicial interests or 
any disclosable pecuniary interests which they may have in 
respect of business on the agenda. None were declared.  
 

20. Minutes  
 

Resolved:  That the minutes of the meeting held on 7 November 
2016 be approved as a correct record and then 
signed by the Chair. 

 

21. Public Participation  
 

It was reported that there had been one registration to speak at 
the meeting under the Council’s Public Participation Scheme on 
the following item:  
 
5. Unmet Demand Policy  
 
Mr Saf Din spoke on behalf of the York Hackney Carriage 
Association in support of the Unmet Demand Survey. He 
suggested that the timescale be reviewed so that the survey 
would take place on a 5 yearly cycle, in order to save on costs. 
He also requested that the results be shared with the Taxi trade 
once available.  
 

22. Renewal of Sex Establishment Licence  
 

Members considered a report seeking determination of an 
application to renew a Sex Establishment Licence for a Sexual 
Entertainment Venue (SEV) which had been made under the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, 

Page 1 Agenda Item 2



Schedule 3 Control of Sex Establishments in respect of Upstairs 
(Mansion), 53-55 Micklegate, York, YO1 6LJ. 
 
The Licensing Officer provided a brief background to the 
application and in response to Member questions stated:  
 

 The ‘premises’ only referred to the area of the building 
where licensable activities take place. As such the 
condition of dressing areas and rest areas cannot be 
given consideration as part of the application for a licence 
renewal.  

 Staff welfare would be covered within the new Sex 
Establishment Policy.  

 During the drafting of the new policy several councils had 
been consulted in order to look at best practice and the 
new policy was robust and comprehensive.  

 
Legal officers clarified that there would have to be clear grounds 
for refusal of this application. It had to be considered against the 
current policy and due weight should be given to the fact that a 
previous licence had been granted and no complaints had been 
received in that time.  
 
During debate Members raised concerns surrounding the 
working conditions of staff, the issue of earlier opening hours on 
race days and the general state of the building.    
 
Resolved:   Option 2: Renew the licence with modified/additional 

conditions imposed by the licensing committee. 
 
                   In coming to their decision of approving the above 

Option 2 the Committee imposed the following 
additional condition: 

 
Dancers will be provided with separate secure 
dressing rooms, facilities to secure valuables and 
proper sanitation facilities. No person other than 
performers and authorised staff will be allowed in or 
near the dressing rooms, therefore safe and 
controlled access will be maintained at all times. The 
documents detailed in this condition will be 
displayed in the dressing rooms. 
 

Reason:     To consider renewal of the sexual entertainment 
licence as required by the legislation. 

Page 2



 
 
 
 

23. Unmet Demand Policy  
 

Members considered a report seeking approval to undertake an 
unmet demand survey in relation to hackney carriage provision 
within the authority area. 
 
Officers provided a brief background to the report and in 
response to Member questions they stated: 
 

 The Council was following Department for Transport (DfT) 
guidance in conducting an Unmet Demand Survey every 
three years. To not do so could leave CYC open to legal 
challenge.  

 The Licensing Department had written to two York MP’s 
asking them to lobby parliament in relation to Taxi 
Licensing.  

 If the survey did show there was a need to issue new 
licences, CYC could stipulate that these be wheelchair 
accessible vehicles.  

 In response to points raised by the public participant, 
Officers clarified that the results of the survey would be 
brought before this Committee and would therefore be 
publicly accessible.  

 
Resolved:  That Members authorise officers to engage a 

transport consultancy to undertake an unmet 
demand survey, and once completed bring the 
results of the survey to this committee. 

 
Reason:     To allow the Council to undertake an unmet demand 

survey, in line with best practice guidance issued by 
the Department for Transport (DfT), in relation to the 
provision of the hackney carriage service. 

 

24. Licensing of Sex Establishments - Licensing Policy  
 

Members considered a report seeking support for the approval 
of the Council’s Licensing Policy, relating to the licensing of sex 
establishments. It advised them of the consultation undertaken 
and the amendments made to the draft policy following the 
consultation. 

Page 3



 
Officers gave Members a brief background to the report. It was 
reported that North Yorkshire Police had responded to the 
consultation and, taking into account their comments, the policy 
had been amended to state that variations would come to 
committee, rather than being delegated to Officers.  
 
Members stated that they felt it was important that all 
applications relating to Sex Establishments came to either 
Committee or a sub-committee. The Licensing Officer stated 
that the schedule of delegation at Appendix B (page 18) of the 
policy would be updated to reflect this.  
 
Resolved:  That the policy be approved, subject to the 

amendments to the schedule of delegation, and it be 
recommended to the Executive that the Licensing 
Policy be adopted. 

 
Reason:     To allow the Council to introduce a more robust 

Licensing Policy relating to the licensing of sex 
establishment. 

 
 
 
 
 

Councillor Douglas, Chair 
[The meeting started at 4.00 pm and finished at 5.00 pm]. 

Page 4



   

 
 

 
 
Gambling, Licensing & Regulatory Committee  

 
13 March 2017  

 
Report of the Assistant Director - Planning and Public Protection 
 
Application to Register Land as a Town or Village Green 
 
Summary 
 
1. This report seeks Members‟ determination of an application to register 

land known as Holgate Community Garden and Play Park (also known 
as Upper St Paul‟s Terrace play area) as a town or village green.   

 
2. The Council is the Commons Registration Authority under the 

Commons Act 2006 (“the Act”) and administers the Registers of 
Common Land and Town or Village Greens. Under Section 15 of the 
Act the Council is able to register new land as a town or village green 
on application. The determination of an application must be based on 
whether the statutory criteria for registration are fulfilled. 

 
Background 
 
3. An application to register land at Holgate Community Garden and Play 

Park (also known as Upper St Paul‟s Terrace play area) as a town or 
village green was received by the Council on 14 September 2016 on 
behalf of Friends of Holgate Community Garden. The land is identified 
on the plan appended to the application. 

 
4. If the land is registered as a village green, it will be subject to statutory 

protection and give local people the right to indulge in sports and 
pastimes over it on a permanent basis. The land must be kept free from 
development or other encroachments and nothing should be done 
which will interfere with these activities. Registration can therefore be 
destructive of the value of land to its owner, as the owner is severely 
restricted in what future use can be made of the land. 

 
5. The relevant legislation for this particular application is the Act and its 

associated Regulations. Under the Regulations, the Council is under a 
duty to advertise an application that is duly made and notify the 
landowner (if known) and any person known to have an interest in the 
land. A period of time is allowed for objections to be lodged. If any 

Page 5 Agenda Item 4



objections are received, the applicant is given the opportunity to 
comment on them. At the end of the consultation process, the evidence 
submitted for and against the application has to be considered and a 
decision taken on whether the application satisfies the statutory 
requirements for registration. 

 
6. For the application to succeed, the Applicant has to prove, on the 

balance of probabilities, that certain statutory criteria set out in section 
15(2) of the Act have been met. These are as follows:  

 
(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any 
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful 
sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years  
and  
(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application. 

 

7. It is for the applicant to establish that all the elements of the statutory 
criteria for registration are met. One of the criteria is that the usage of 
the land is required to be „as of right‟ (and not „by right‟ i.e. not by 
permission). This is an essential ingredient in an application for 
registration. An applicant must be able to show that the users of the 
land had no legal right to use the land but nevertheless did so as if they 
had such a right.  

 

8. The Council as landowner of the application site and the proposed 
developer of the application site have objected that application to 
register should be rejected, as the use of the land has been „by right‟ 
i.e. permissive, and not „as of right‟. This is on the basis that that the 
application site has been held by the Council since 1979 for the specific 
purpose of being open space pursuant to its statutory powers as 
landowner.  

 
9. The applicant was provided with a copy of the objections and given an 

opportunity to comment. The applicant responded that it accepts the 
objectors‟ submission that the use of the land has been by right and not 
as of right at and that being the case, it does not wish to take its 
application for registration further.  

 

10. The handling of the application and the objections has been kept strictly 
apart by Officers. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 6



Consultation 
 
11. The application was formally advertised and an objection was received 

from the Council in its capacity as freehold landowner of the application 
site. An objection was also received on behalf of the York Central 
Partnership as promoters of the York Central site which comprises the 
application site. 

 
12. A comment was received in support of the application (after the end of 

the statutory consultation period).  
 
Options 
 
13. Option 1 - Refuse the application. 
 
 Option 2 – Not to determine the application. 
  
Analysis 
 
14. The Supreme Court has held that where land is held and laid out as 

public recreational land by a local authority pursuant to e.g. Public 
Health Acts or the Open Spaces Act, the public have a statutory right to 
use that land for recreational purposes. Therefore, their use is pursuant 
to that statutory right to do so, and so is „by right‟ rather than „as of right‟ 
i.e. it is regarded as a use with permission. 

 
15. The Council acquired the site in 1973 through use of compulsory 

purchase powers. In 1979 the Council resolved to appropriate the site 
for the purposes of s.120 (1)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
Section 120(1) (b) of the Local Government Act 1972 allows a principal 
council to acquire land by agreement for the benefit, improvement or 
development of the area. In 1979 the Secretary of State for the 
Department of the Environment and Transport consented to the 
appropriation by the Council of the site under section 47 of the Housing 
Act 1957 for the purpose of open space. The Council appropriated the 
site in November 1979 for the purpose of being open space and has 
since then held the site for open space. 

 
16. The effect of this factual position is that members of the public are 

legally entitled to use the land „by right‟. On the facts of this case 
therefore, as usage of the land is „by right‟ and not „as of right‟, the 
statutory criteria for registration cannot be met.  
 

17.  Defra guidance states that applicants do not have an automatic right to 
withdraw applications and that the registration authority has discretion 

Page 7



either to take no further action on the application, or to go ahead and 
determine the application, based on the evidence available. 

 
18. Given that one of the objectors to the application is the Council itself, 

Officers on the part of the registration authority consider that it is 
appropriate for the application to be formally determined even though 
the applicant does not wish to progress the application.  

 
19.   It is common practise for a registration authority to appoint an 

independent person to advise it (usually by way of a public inquiry) as 
to whether an application should be accepted or refused when there  
are objections or other concerns about the fulfilment of the statutory 
criteria for registration. There is particular merit in this approach when 
the Council is both objecting as the landowner and sitting in a quasi-
judicial capacity to determine an application, as it removes any 
perception of adverse conflict of interests. 

 

20. Although it may be that there is an arguable case in respect of all the 
other statutory criteria which could be tested by an independent person, 
Officers on the part of the registration authority consider it unnecessary 
to undertake this process in this particular case, as regardless of the 
determination of other elements of the test, the requirement for usage 
„as of right‟ cannot be satisfied. That being the case, the land does not 
fall to be registered as a town or village green. 

 
21. Therefore, it is recommended that the application be refused because 

the statutory criteria for registration cannot be met. Option 2 is not 
recommended. 

 
Council Plan 
 
22. This report supports the council plan priorities of “a prosperous city for 

all; a focus on frontline services; a council that listens to residents”. In 
particular, through following the correct procedures for this application 
the council has engaged with the local community. 

 
Implications 
 
23. The implications arising directly from this report are: 
 

Financial - N/A 

Human Resources (HR) – N/A 

Equalities – N/A 

Page 8



Legal –  
 
Officers‟ recommendations and conclusions are based on relevant legal 
principles and case law. 
 
Under the Act, there is no statutory right of appeal to the Secretary of 
State against the Council‟s decision and the only challenge to a 
decision made by this Committee would be through the process of 
judicial review. 
 
Crime and Disorder – N/A 
 
Information Technology (IT) – N/A 
 
Property – N/A 

Other – N/A 

 

Risk Management 

24. Members are aware that any decision which is unreasonable or 
unlawful could be open to legal challenge resulting in loss of reputation 
and potential financial penalty. 

 
25. The report details the options available to the Committee in determining 

the application and recommends that a decision be reached.  Provided 
the decision complies with the proper grounds for considering the 
application as set out within this report there are no known risks 
involved with this recommendation. 

 

Recommendation 
 
26. To refuse the application.  
 

Reason:     As one of the statutory criterions for registration has not 
been met. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 
 
Contact Details 
 

Author: Chief Officer Responsible for the Report: 

Sandra Branigan  
Senior Solicitor  
(01904) 551040olicitor 

Michael Slater 
Assistant Director 
Planning & Public Protection 
(01904) 551300 
 

Report 
Approved 

 
Date 3 March 2017  

 

Wards Affected:  Holgate  

 
 
Annexes:  
 
Annex 1 - Application by the Friends of Holgate Community Garden for the 
Registration of Land as a Town or Village Green received 14th September 
2016  
 

Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Application to Register Land as a Town or Village Green
	Annex 1 - TVG Holgate


